IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI FILED

ALAN AVANT

NOV 0 2 2009

APPELLANT

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK NO. 2009-CP-00680-COA SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY:

Alan Avant WCCF, #W1264 P. O. Box 1079 Woodville, MS 39669

Alan Avis

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PROSE PRISONER BRIEF

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALAN AVANT

APPELLANT

VS.

: •

:•

20

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

NO. 2009-CP-00680-COA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

1. Alan Avant, Appellant pro se.

2. Honorable Jim Hood and staff, Attorney General

3. Honorable Vernon Cotton, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF CASE

Allan Avant was indicted by the Leake County Grand Jury on November 1, 2004 for the offense of armed robbery. (R. 45-47).

Appellant Avant was appointed Honorable Christopher Collins to represent him.

Just prior to trial petitioner's attorney instructed Appellant that he should plead guilty because if he went to trial he would be sentenced to life without parole as a violent habitual offender.

Mr. Collins came to Appellant several times with plea bargain deals which Appellant continuously refused until Mr. Collins kept applying that Appellant had been charged as a violent habitual offender would be sentenced as such.

Appellant informed Mr. Collins that he was not a violent habitual offender and that he did not want to plead guilty to the charges.

Upon pleading guilty the trial court never received the required information to form the basis of the plea of guilty and the court accepted the plea without admission of the elements and imposed sentence. The trial court imposed a sentence of 15 years with the prosecution not pursuing the alleged habitual charges.

The trial court never advised Appellant of the right to appeal the sentence to the Mississippi Supreme Court directly even after there had been a plea of guilty.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at Woodville, Mississippi, in service of a mandatory prison term imposed as a direct result of the conviction and sentence under attack in this case. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of his transfer from federal custody where he was sent following the conviction and imposition by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

: •

20

:•

Whether Appellant Avant was denied due process of law where the prosecution indicted Appellant purposefully as a habitual offender solely to force and pressure Appellant to plead guilty to armed robbery when the prosecution knew Appellant was not a habitual offender under the requirements of the habitual statute.

ISSUE TWO

:•

: •

: •

Whether Appellant Avant was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense of arm robbery without having admitted a sufficient factual basis to demonstrate guilt of such armed robbery offense. The admissions made in upon court by Appellant Avant do not constitute sufficient basis for armed robbery.

ISSUE THREE

Whether Appellant was denied due process of law where he was allowed and enticed to plead guilty to arm robbery under duress and coercion when defense counsel gave advice that if Appellant did not plead guilty he would get life without parole. Appellant would assert that the manner in which the trial court imposed the sentence constitutes a denial of due process and an illegal sentence. The law is clear that a criminal sentence cannot be placed in lay away. The 15 year sentence imposed in this case constitutes a lay away sentence.

ISSUE FOUR

Whether Appellant Alan Avant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Alan Avant of the correct law in regards to filing direct appeal of a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant Alan Avant was never told that under applicable law the

On this claim the trial court found that, after reviewing the indictment, the state had properly charged Appellant as a habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-19-83. (R. 35) Appellant would assert here that the trial court was incorrect in such finding where there was no finding on the record that either of the prior offenses raised by the state in support of such allegations involved these of violence, threats, use of weapon, or bodily harm to any individual. Such subsequent offenses were, therefore, not qualified to escalate the status to habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-19-83. The trial court made absolutely no findings on the record of the guilty pleas in regards to such prior convictions. This Court should reject the trial court's actions in denting the PCR on this claim.

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea. "In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), The Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it"...substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined

:•

: •

: •

weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life in the state. penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the jury; and in cases where the jury fails to fix the penalty at imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

However, a sentence for armed robbery allows a non- habitual to accumulate earned time credits after serving the initial 10 years of such sentence. <u>Collins. v. Puckett</u>, 624 So.2d 496, 499-500 (Miss. 1993).

offense to which he is offering the plea." <u>See, e.g.,</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

÷ •

2.0

<u>.</u> .

2.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions raising questions regarding the voluntariness to their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss. 1980); <u>Watts v. Lucas</u>, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); <u>Ball v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); <u>Tiller v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.²

ISSUE TWO

Alan Avant was represented in the Circuit Court by Honorable Christopher A. Collins who informed Appellant that if Appellant did not plead guilty to the charges he would get life without parole. The law is clear that such a tactic is illegal. <u>Myers v. State</u> 583 So. 2d 174 (Miss. 1991) on the basis the pleas entered by Avant is coerced as well as involuntary. The judgments entered there under, as a matter of law, is subject to collateral attack.

While the trial court found that this claim was unfounded, there is no legal authority mentioned by the court to discredit that authority which Appellant

² While the Mississippi Supreme Court specified "Inmates at the Mississippi State Penitentiary", it is clear that this decision would apply to any inmate confined within or without the State of Mississippi who has been subjected to a Mississippi conviction and sentence and who is serving that sentence or must serve such sentence at some point in the future and which that person_desire to attack collaterally.

asserted in support of his claim. The record demonstrates that the robbery charge, which this prosecution used as one of the subsequent offenses, without any violence or the treat of violence, cannot constitute the basis for life without parole as a habitual offended. Stated another was, Avant was not eligible for a life sentence without parole and the trial court was incorrect in it's findings. The trial court never asserted that the prior robbery charge involved acts of violence as required by Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-19-83.

Appellant would assert that the cumulative effect of each of the errors set forth in his motion PCR motion and in this brief, when combined, constitutes a denial of due process of law and amounts to reversible plain error as having denied Appellant his constitutional right to a fair trial.

ISSUE THREE

DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHERE SENTENCE WAS PLACED IMPOSED IN LAYAWAY UNTIL AFTER FEDERAL TERM WAS COMPLETED

The sentence which the Circuit Court imposed in this case was imposed illegally where said sentence was imposed to be served following the service of a federal term. The state sentence was designated to commence after the service of the federal sentence. This Court should find that such action was illegal. Appellant should be permitted credit on the state sentence from the date of it's imposition notwithstanding where Appellant may have been in custody as long as he was in

:•

.

: •

: •

some form of lawful custody. The state should be responsible for it's voluntary release of Appellant to another jurisdiction prior to the complete service of the state's term. The state court imposed sentence should not have been allowed to be placed in the layaway. The trial court never elaborated upon these issues other then merely asserting that such claim was unfounded. Under this broad finding any attack upon any sentence is unfounded with the trial court. This Court should find that the trial court was incorrect in imposing a sentence and releasing Appellant to another jurisdiction for service of the sentence at a future date. Such an action is without statutory authority.

:•

2.

:•

Appellant Avant filed this specific claim, aside from the additional claims, not to challenge the criminal judgment against him but to challenge the implementation of the judgment by the state in the manner the judgment designated the sentence to be served. This in not the kind of claim which Avant could challenge in the court proceedings during the guilty plea colloquy where Appellant Avant had not yet begun to serve the sentence. Appellant had no standing to bring this claim at that time.

The issue is whether the rule against installment punishment was violated in Avant's case should now be before this Court. It is clear from the facts that such prohibition was violated.

The gravamen of Appellant's claim is that when the Circuit Court imposed the state sentence to start after the federal sentence which was being served at that time was fully completed then the state court imposed the sentence in a layaway or installment fashion. The state court sentence should have been deemed to have started at the time of imposition. Just as the state court has no authority to impose a state sentence to be served concurrent to a federal sentence, the same Court has no jurisdiction to impose a state sentence to run consecutive to a federal sentence. Petitioner's case poses a question of law. The sentencing proceedings that occurred in this case contain serious constitutional defects that affect Avant's Fifth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution. Appellant Avant is entitled to relief under this claim. This Court should find that the trial court erred in it's ruling and this case should be reversed and remanded to the trial court.

:•

ż٠

÷

ISSUE FOUR

TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CORRECTLY INFORM ALAN AVANT THAT HE COULD DIRECTLY APPEAL THE SENTENCE IMPOSED UPON PLEA OF GUILTY

The trial court informed Avant, when accepting the plea of guilty, that there could be no appeal. This was clearly an incorrect advice given by the trial court. This Court have fashioned out the rule that even upon a plea of guilty the law would allow Avant a limited direct appeal of the sentence imposed. The trial court judge made a fundamental error where he failed to advise Avant of his avenue of review of the sentence in regards to the plea of guilty. The trial court, in fact, advised Avant of the exact opposite. The law is clear that a defendant who pleads guilty has a limited right to directly appeal the sentence tot e Supreme Court. <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 554 So.2d 313, 86 A.L.R. 4th 327 (Miss. 1989)

:•

:•

23

While the trial court stated in the order denying the PCR that Appellant admitted in open court that he had no right to appeal his guilty plea, Appellant would assert that the appeal of the guilty plea and the appeal of the sentence is tow totally different matters. This Court would most likely consider previous findings that the trial court had no obligation to inform Appellant of any available procedure to appeal the sentence which the court imposed. That point would be a valid one where the trial Court had not mislead Appellant by providing evasive, disguised, and encrypted information regarding the appeal. The correct information, if provided to Appellant by the trial court, would have been counter productive to the court's sentence. Out of fairness, of the trial court believed the sentence was, in fact, a fair one, the Court should have been willing and readily agreeable in informing Appellant of his avenue of appeal of the sentence, notwithstanding the plea. It would mean little if this Court was to spend time fashioning out a procedure to allow a defendant to have a sentence imposed upon a plea of guilty directly reviewed by a timely appeal if the procedure is not to be told to or inform unto the defendant which it directly effects. A procedure of keeping the dumb and ignorant dumb and ignorant is not the correct procedure. The procedure and information should be published by and made readily available to the defendant by the trial court. Misleading a defendant with opposite information should not suffice. This Court should reverse and remand on this claim or should find that trial courts which undertake a practice to inform a defendant of any appeal process should inform the defendant of the all of the correct process to appeal a conviction and sentence and where each such appeal may apply.

:•

:•

:.

23

ISSUE FIVE

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Appellant Alan Avant was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney, representing him during the plea and sentencing proceedings, advised Avant to plead guilty to armed robbery or he would be sentenced to life without parole were he to proceed to trial. This information and advice constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. More over, defense counsel's advice caused Avant to fear life without parole if he continued on the course of asserting his rights to a trial. Lawfully, defense counsel was not in a position to advise Avant of a projected sentence he would receive when no such trial or sentencing hearing had yet been held. Sentencing, even had Avant been found guilty, was a matter for the court. In. Jackson v. State, 815 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Court held the

following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

۰.

. •

. .

:•

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. <u>Hiter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. <u>Nicolaou v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. <u>Carney v.</u> <u>State</u>, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

Avant claims that the following instances demonstrate that he suffered ineffective assistance of counsel during the pre-plea proceedings. First, defense counsel never informed Avant of the fact that armed robbery, even upon a plea of guilty carried with it a mandatory sentence;³ Defense Counsel coerced Avant into pleas by informing Avant that a failure to plead guilty would result in a sentence of life without parole; Defense Counsel never informed Avant that the habitual charges against his were not proper where Avant was not a violent habitual offender. Had defense counsel correctly instructed Avant on these critical points, Avant would not have entered a plea of guilty. Defense Counsel clearly was not

³ Appellant was never told of the mandatory sentencing practice until he had appeared before the trial court. It was sprung on Appellant by the trial judge for the first time. At this point counsel knew Appellant had passed the point of no return and that he would have to go through with the plea or prejudice himself with the court by asking questions or disagreeing. This much counsel knew the Appellant would not do. Defense counsel should have made Appellant aware of this information prior to any appearance before the trial court for a plea.

informed on or fully aware of the law in regards to sentencing for that offense of armed robbery or being a habitual violent offender in Mississippi.

In Ward v. State, 708 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1998), the Supreme Court held the

following:

: •

:•

:•

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also <u>Herring v. Estelle</u>, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis); <u>Leatherwood v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that his attorney did not know the relevant law).

In the instant case, defense counsel failed to know the law in regards to

armed robbery and as a result counsel failed to correctly advise Avant of the law

regarding sentence.

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); <u>Knight v.</u> <u>State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>McQuarter v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); <u>Waldrop v.</u> <u>State</u>, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), <u>aff'd after remand</u>, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); <u>Stringer v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

:•

: •

2.8

2

The Supreme Court of Mississippi visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for his attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

> In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of the Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Modern Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to

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