#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALAN M. AVANT

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-0680

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

Land Committee Control

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Avant was correctly indicted as a violent habitual offender and it was within the discretion of the prosecutor to charge Avant with armed robbery as an habitual offender and to subsequently allow Avant to plead guilty to the crime of armed robbery without enhancement for his status as an habitual offender. While confronting a defendant with the risk of more severe punishment clearly may have a discouraging effect on the defendant's assertion of his trial rights, the imposition of these difficult choices is an inevitable – and permissible – attribute of any legitimate system which tolerates and encourages the negotiation of pleas. It follows that, by tolerating and encouraging the negotiation of pleas, this Court has necessarily accepted as constitutionally legitimate the simple reality that the prosecutor's interest at the bargaining table is to persuade the defendant to forgo his right to plead not guilty. *Corbitt v. New Jersey*, 439 U.S. 212 (1978).

The indictment, which was read during the plea hearing, was specific as to the elements of the crime of armed robbery. After the trial judge read the indictment aloud, he asked Avant if he committed the crime charged in the indictment. Avant responded, "Yes." Therefore, there was a sufficient factual basis to support Avant's conviction for armed robbery. Further, due to consultation with his lawyer, review of the evidence against him, and participation in interviewing witnesses, Avant was "intimately familiar" with the State's proof against him.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "sentencing is within the complete discretion of the trial court and not subject to appellate review if it is within the limits prescribed by statute." <u>Beamon v. State</u>, 9 So.3d 376, 380 (Miss.2009) (quoting Wall v. State, 718 So.2d 1107, 1114 (Miss.1998)). Further, the general rule in this state is that a sentence cannot be

disturbed on appeal so long as it does not exceed the maximum term allowed by statute. *Corley* v. *State*, 536 So.2d 1314, 1319 (Miss.1988).

Avant contends that the trial court committed reversible error when it failed to advise him of his right to appeal his sentence through a direct appeal. Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-35-101 (Rev.2007) states that "[a]ny person convicted of an offense in a circuit court may appeal to the supreme court, provided, however, an appeal from the circuit court to the supreme court shall not be allowed in any case where the defendant enters a plea of guilty." See Cook v. State, 990 So.2d 788, 793 (Miss.Ct.App.2008) FN1. However, a defendant may directly appeal the sentence given as a result of that plea even though a conviction from a guilty plea may not be directly appealed. Trotter v. State, 554 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss.1989). Nevertheless, a trial court is not required to inform the defendant of his right to direct appeal his sentence after he enters a guilty plea. Cook, 990 So.2d at 793. Thus, this issue is without merit.

Avant cannot meet either prong of *Strickland*. That is, he cannot show that his counsel was deficient or that he was in any way prejudiced by this deficiency. His counsel's assistance was within the range of reasonable professional assistance. Further, Avant offered nothing other than his own affidavit to support his claim and therefore it must fail. Finally, Avant's counsel procured for him a plea bargain which spared Avant the possibility of life in prison without parole. There is no merit to Avant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Avant was correctly indicted as a violent habitual offender and it was within the discretion of the prosecutor to charge Avant with armed robbery as an habitual offender and to subsequently allow Avant to plead guilty to the crime of armed robbery without enhancement for his status as an habitual offender.

Avant contends that the "prosecution knew there was no evidence to prove such violent habitual status," and that the charge of violent habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code

Annotated Section 99-19-83 (1972, as amended) was made in an effort to coerce him to plead guilty to armed robbery. It is plain from the record that Avant's prior convictions warranted the imposition of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-83 (1972, as amended), which mandated that if Avant was convicted of armed robbery, the circuit court judge must impose a life sentence. The indictment clearly alleges that Avant had the following prior convictions:

- 1) a charge of felony burglary, in Circuit Court of St. Clair County, Illinois, Cause No. 00-CF-228, on May 16, 2000, for which he received a sentence of three (3) years in the Illinois State Penitentiary; and,
- a charge of felony robbery, in the Circuit Court of St. Claire County, Illinois,
   Cause No. 01-CF-1044 on March 26, 2003, for which he was sentenced to four
   (4) years in the Illinois State Penitenitiary.

Further, Avant admitted these convictions as well as a third conviction during his plea hearing. The following colloquy took place during the plea hearing:

Q. (The Court) So let me begin with this. Tell me about your prior criminal felony convictions; state court, federal court, just tell me what – how you've been involved with the law?

- A. (Avant) Sir, I have a firearms charge, I have a burglary charge, and I have a robbery charge.
- Q. Are you on probation for any of those?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. That's state court in the State of Illinois, from what I -
- A. Yes, sir. I have a felony charge that's running, as we speak.
- Q. Where were you in Federal custody, I assume, before you came here?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Where?
- A. Some of everywhere. I left from U.S.P. Hazelton in West Virginia. That's where I was.
- Q. What sentence were you serving there, and for what crime?
- A. I think I got 63 months for felony possession of a firearm.
- Q. How long had you served that?
- A. I've been serving that since September, 2004.
- Q. Do you understand that whatever we do here today, that sentence will be consecutive to this, or this will be consecutive to that sentence?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. It will be in addition to that?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. So that, once you're returned to West Virginia, and you complete that, you will come down here, if I accept this plea, and you will serve this sentence?

A. Yes, sir.

(C.P. 55-57)

A defendant charged with a "serious offense," one for which he could be sentenced to more than six months in custody, is guaranteed the right to a jury trial under the <u>United States Constitution</u>. *Ude v. State*, 992 So. 2d 1213, 1217 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted). A defendant, however, does not have a "constitutional right to a plea bargain." *Moody v. State*, 716 So. 2d 562, 565 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Allman v. State*, 571 So. 2d 244, 254 (Miss. 1990)). In *Stevenson v. State*, 325 So. 2d 113, 115-16 (Miss. 1975), the Mississippi Supreme Court not only found it "obvious . . . that the discretion of a prosecutor and his power to plea bargain is constitutionally permissible[,]" but also opined that without such "prosecutorial discretion and plea bargaining, our system of justice could not

In <u>Corbitt v. New Jersey</u>, 439 U.S. 212 (1978), the United States Supreme Court had rejected a claim that, because a plea of nolo contendere might produce a lesser sentence than going to trial (which could result in mandatory life imprisonment), the New Jersey statutes imposed an unconstitutional burden on the defendant's right to trial by jury. <u>Rodriguez</u>, 162 F.3d at 152 (citing Corbitt, 439 U.S. at 214-15, 218). The Court explained that:

While confronting a defendant with the risk of more severe punishment clearly may have a discouraging effect on the defendant's assertion of his trial rights, the imposition of these difficult choices is an inevitable – and permissible – attribute of any legitimate system which tolerates and encourages the negotiation of pleas. It follows that, by tolerating and encouraging the negotiation of pleas, this Court has necessarily accepted as constitutionally legitimate the simple reality that the prosecutor's interest at the bargaining table is to persuade the defendant to forgo his right to plead not guilty.

<u>Id.</u> (quoting Corbitt, 439 U.S. at 220-21).

The *Rodriguez* Court, thus, concluded that while the sentencing differential which resulted from the plea process at issue "exacts a high price from those who exercise their constitutional right to trial[,] . . . the price is not high enough to constitute a constitutional violation." *Id.* It is only "when a prosecutor discriminates against defendants based on impermissible criteria such as race or religion is a prosecutor's discretion subject to review and rebuke." *Id.* at 153.

In <u>Hersick v. State</u>, 904 So. 2d 116 (Miss. 2004), the Mississippi Supreme Court was presented with the converse situation. Prior to trial, the defendant had been offered a plea bargain by the State, which offered to recommend a sentence of ten years, with five years suspended.

<u>Id. at 127</u>. The defendant rejected the offer and exercised his right to trial by jury. Upon his conviction, the State recommended the maximum sentence of ten years, which the court imposed. On appeal, the defendant contended that the imposition of a heavier sentence than was offered to him pretrial was a direct result of his exercise of his constitutional right to jury trial. The State responded that, rather than being punished for going to trial, the defendant had been offered an opportunity to help himself by pleading guilty and accepting responsibility for his crime, which he had refused. <u>Id. at 128</u>. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that:

Whether the defendant takes responsibility for his or her actions is a fair consideration for the trial court in sentencing. We find nothing in the record that demonstrates the trial court imposed the maximum sentence to punish [the defendant] for exercising his right to a jury trial.

Id.

In the instant case, Avant argues that the charge of habitual offender pursuant to

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-83 (1972, as amended), was included in the indictment merely to induce him to plead guilty to armed robbery. However, the record clearly shows, by Avant's own admission, that Avant did indeed have three prior felony convictions and had been sentenced to and served separate terms of a year or more for each of those convictions. (C.P. 32; 55-57)

Consequently, just as the loss of a generous plea bargain and the institution of a more severe sentence is not "punishment for going to trial" for a defendant who elects to exercise his right to trial, neither is the offer a favorable plea bargain, for which the defendant must choose to waive is right to trial, an attempt to "coerce, manipulate, and improperly induce" a defendant to plead guilty. It is, rather, a constitutional tool in the prosecutor's toolbox. Avant's constitutional right to trial by jury was not violated.

Avant contends that the "prosecution knew there was no evidence to prove such violent habitual status," however, he did not offer any proof other than his own affidavit for this assertion. Further, the indictment set out two felonies, one a felony burglary and the other a felony robbery, that satisfied the requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-83 (1972, as amended). Avant admitted to these two convictions on the record during the plea hearing. Avant further contends that the trial court erred by failing to make a finding on the record at the plea hearing as to the violent nature of his convictions. These convictions are clearly sufficient to satisfy Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-83 (Miss. 1972, as amended), since, in Magee v. State, 542 So.2d 228 (Miss.1989) the Mississippi Supreme Court held the robbery is a violent crime for purposes of the violent habitual offender statute.

Avant cites URCCC 8.04 8.04(A)(3) for its requirement that "before the trial court may

accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea." He further cites *Corley v. State*, 585, 765, 767 (Miss. 1991) for the requirement that the trial court must have before it substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea. However, Avant was not pleading guilty to being a violent habitual offender, and therefore, the trial court was not required to establish a factual basis for Avant's status as a violent habitual offender. Avant pled guilty to armed robbery, and the trial court, reading from the indictment, read the specific factual elements of that crime into the record and asked Avant if he was guilty of those elements and therefore the crime of armed robbery, to which Avant replied, "Yes." The trial court therefore completely satisfied the requirement for establishing a factual basis for Avant's plea of guilty to the charge of armed robbery.

### II. Avant's Plea was Supported by a Sufficient Factual Basis.

Avant claims that no factual bases existed for the trial court's acceptance of his guilty plea. "Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that ... there is a factual basis for the plea." URCCC 8.04(A)(3). The reviewing court must look to the entire record to determine if such a factual basis exists. *Drake v. State*, 823 So.2d 593, 594

(Miss.Ct.App.2002) (citing *Corley v. State*, 585 So.2d 765, 767-68 (Miss.1991)). The mere fact that the factual basis does not provide all the details which may be produced at trial does not make the guilty plea invalid. *Id.* The Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that, "if sufficiently specific, an indictment or information can be used as the sole source of the factual basis for the plea." *Id.* (quoting *U.S. v. Hinojosa-Lopez*, 130 F.3d 691, 695 (5th Cir.1997) (overruled on other grounds)).

During the plea hearing, the trial court read aloud the indictment which alleged that Avant willfully, unlawfully and feloniously took cash in excess of Ten Dollars (\$10.00) from Michael Weaver, an employee of Walnut Grove Finance, LLC. Further, it alleged that the taking was against the will of Michael Weaver and that Weaver was put in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a firearm, a deadly weapon. After the reading of the indictment, the circuit court asked Avant if he committed the crime charged in the indictment. He responded, "Yes." (C.P. 58-59)

Further, counsel for the defendant stated at trial,

As regards what the State could prove at trial, my client is familiar with the written discovery that has been provided. He has participated with me in interviewing some witnesses in this case, as well. I believe he is intimately familiar with what it appears the State of Mississippi would attempt to offer at trial, and based on that knowledge, I believe, again, he's standing here offering a knowing, free and voluntary plea.

Here, as in *Drake*, the indictment was specific as to the crime charged. Avant's indictment provided all of the elements of the offense of armed robbery. Those elements included: "(1) feloniously take or attempted to take another's personal property; (2) from the person or from the presence; (3) against the person's will; (4) by violence to his person, or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon." *Clayton v. State*, 946 So.2d 796, 804 (Miss.Ct.App.2006) (citing Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-79) (Rev.2000).

The indictment was specific as to the elements of the crime of armed robbery and, therefore, there was a sufficient factual basis to support Avant's conviction for armed robbery. Further, due to consultation with his lawyer, review of the evidence against him, and participation in interviewing witnesses, Avant was "intimately familiar" with the State's proof

against him. Thus, this issue has no merit.

## III. The trial court was well within its authority to impose Avant's sentence consecutively to the federal sentence he was serving at the time of his trial.

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